IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

THE FLORIDA BAR,)
)
Complainant-Appellant,) The Florida Bar File No.
) 88-50,720 (17E)
v.)
) Supreme Court Case No.
BEN I. FARBSTEIN,) 74,290
)
Respondent-Appellee.)
)

INITIAL BRIEF OF THE FLORIDA BAR

DAVID M. BARNOVITZ #335551
Bar Counsel
The Florida Bar
5900 North Andrews Avenue
Suite 835
Ft. Lauderdale, FL 33309
(305) 772-2245

JOHN T. BERRY #217395
Staff Counsel
The Florida Bar
650 Apalachee Parkway
Tallahassee, FL 32399-2300
(904) 561-5839

JOHN F. HARKNESS, JR. #123390
Executive Director
The Florida Bar
650 Apalachee Parkway
Tallahassee, FL 32399-2300
(904) 561-5600

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND OF THE FACTS

Upon respondent's waiver of probable cause, the bar commenced this disciplinary proceeding charging respondent with four (4) counts of misconduct ranging from inadequate attorney-client communication to theft of clients' funds.

At final hearing respondent stipulated on the record (4-14)* regarding various allegations of misconduct and commission of violations which stipulation was accepted and approved by *the* referee and incorporated by him in his report. As a result, respondent stands guilty of committing the following acts and violations which are presented in four (4) counts.

COUNT I

1. On or about October 4, 1987, respondent was hired to represent one Kenneth A. Gress and Canam Associates, regarding several landlord-tenant cases and agreed to perform legal services on behalf of Mr. Gress.

2. Respondent did not adequately communicate with Mr. Gress concerning the several landlord-tenant cases.

3. Mr. Gress and his attorney, Norman Leopold, Esquire, had great difficulty in securing Mr. Gress' files from respondent which difficulty led attorney Leopold to seek redress from a court of competent jurisdiction.

* All references are to page numbers in transcript of final hearing unless otherwise specifically noted.

4. *Mr.* Gress and *Mr.* Leopold have alleged that respondent misrepresented, on more than one Occasion, that the file was available to be picked up.

5. Respondent did not diligently pursue all of the matters that *Mr.* Gress had entrusted to him.

6. Various Rules of Professional Conduct were violated with respect to Count I. By failing to exercise diligence in pursuing the matters entrusted to him by *Mr.* Gress, respondent violated Rule 4-1.3 which provides that a lawyer shall act with reasonable diligence and promptness in representing a client. By failing properly to communicate with *Mr.* Gress respondent violated Rule 4-1.4 (a) which provides that a lawyer shall keep a client reasonably informed about the status of a matter and promptly comply with reasonable requests for information. **By** misrepresenting, on more than one Occasion, that the client's files were available to be picked up and by creating difficulty to the client and the client's successor attorney in securing the files, respondent violated Rule 4-1.16(d), Rule 4-3.2 and Rule 4-8.4(c) which provide, respectively, that upon termination of representation, a lawyer shall take steps to the extent reasonably practicable to protect a client's interest such as surrendering papers and property to which the client is entitled; that a lawyer shall make reasonable efforts to expedite litigation consistent with the interests of the client; and that a lawyer shall not engage in conduct involving dishonesty, fraud, deceit or misrepresentation.

COUNT II

7. In or about December, 1986, respondent was hired to represent one Susanna Lallouz and her partner, Robert R. Royce, regarding the collection of certain promissory notes.

8. In its complaint, the bar alleged that respondent failed to keep his clients apprised of the developments in their case, despite requests by the clients for information.

9. The testimony of Susanna Lallouz and Robert Royce was submitted by affidavit and consisted of the following:

The affiants are the sole shareholders, directors and office holders of Robert Royce, Inc.

By and through their attorney, Michael A. Kramer, the affiants filed a complaint with The Florida Bar regarding respondent, the former attorney for Robert Royce, Inc.

Since the time of filing the complaint with the bar, the affiants have resolved all of their differences, misunderstandings and/or complaints with respondent to everyone's mutual satisfaction.

Affiants have had an opportunity to review the case file on the problem matter and are satisfied that the case was handled properly, except as to the issue of attorney/client communication, which issue has now been resolved.

Affiants desire that all proceedings or actions brought by The Florida Bar in their name involving respondent be terminated.

10. With respect to Count 11, in light of the affidavit received in evidence from the original complainants to the bar, the only violation of the Rules of Professional Conduct is Rule 4-1.4(a) which provides that a lawyer shall keep a client reasonably informed about the status of a matter and promptly comply with reasonable requests for information.

COUNT III

11. In or about January, 1987, respondent was hired to represent one Robert Nelson Owen regarding a personal injury claim.

12. Respondent received a settlement check in connection with Mr. Nelson's claim, which check was not disbursed to Mr. Nelson until August 30, 1988.

13. When respondent finally sent the funds in question to his client, respondent failed to secure the general release, in advance, but transmitted both the check and the release to his client at the same time, in violation of respondent's escrow agreement with the insurance company.

14. By transmitting both the settlement check and release to his client at the same time in violation of his escrow agreement with the insurance company respondent violated Rule 5-1.1, Rules Regulating Trust Accounts which provides that money entrusted to an attorney for a specific purpose may only be applied for that purpose.

COUNT IV

15. Carlos J. Ruga, branch auditor of The Florida Bar, conducted an audit of respondent's trust account.

16. The trust accounts examined were the following:

(A) Ben I. Farbstein trust account, maintained at Regent Bank, account #10200082200, for the period January 1, 1987 to April 5, 1988, the date on which it was closed. It should be noted that this is an interest bearing account and during the period examined earned one hundred sixty-nine dollars and ninety-one cents (\$169.91) in interest.

(B) Ben I. Farbstein trust account, maintained at Seminole National Bank, account #12500-0621-2, for the period April 14, 1987 to April 22, 1988.

(C) Ben I. Farbstein trust account, maintained at Sun Bank, account #0385-007040290, for the period May 20 to August 31, 1988.

17. The audit revealed that on May 30, 1988, the respondent had closed the account maintained at Seminole Bank and had opened the Sun Bank trust account.

18. The balance in the account as of May 30, 1988 was two thousand four hundred dollars and no cents (\$2,400.00) and his liability to clients as of this date was twenty-three thousand five hundred twenty-eight dollars and sixty-two cents (\$23,528.62), reflecting a shortage in his trust account of twenty-one thousand one hundred twenty-eight dollars and sixty-two cents (\$21,128.62).

19. In the following months, the respondent's pattern was to utilize recent deposits to pay obligations incurred in previous months.

20. Also on or about July 15, 1988, the respondent deposited eight thousand five hundred dollars and no cents (\$8,500.00) from a loan he obtained from his father.

21. These funds helped in reducing his liability to clients. On August 30, 1988, the balance in the trust account was three thousand seven hundred three dollars and eighty-five cents (\$3,703.85) and his client liability was sixteen thousand eight hundred forty-seven dollars and twenty-nine cents (\$16,847.29) reflecting a shortage of thirteen thousand one hundred forty-three dollars and forty-four cents (\$13,143.44).

22. On or about April 22, 1988, respondent deposited in the trust account maintained at Seminole Bank, account #1250006212, a check in the amount of six thousand dollars and no cents (\$6,000.00) payable to Robert Nelson and Marion Nelson, individually and as husband and wife and Ben I. Farbstein, as their attorney.

23. The balance in the trust account at the end of April, 1988 was five thousand nine hundred four dollars and thirty-six cents (\$5,904.36).

24. The following month, the respondent issued three (3) checks to himself for the total amount in the trust account and by May 19, 1988 closed the account.

25. The respondent's liability to clients at this date was at least twenty-four thousand five hundred twenty-eight dollars and sixty-two cents (\$24,528.62).

26. On or about August 30, 1988, the respondent finally paid the Nelsons.

27. On that date, he obtained a cashier check from Sun Bank in the amount of three thousand eight hundred thirty-two dollars and fifty cents (\$3,832.50) and delivered same to the Nelsons.

28. The respondent used other client funds to satisfy this liability.

29. At that date, the respondent's liability to clients was sixteen thousand eight hundred forty-seven dollars and twenty-nine cents (\$16,847.29).

30. As a result of the numerous trust account misappropriations and lack of compliance with trust accounts procedures the following violations occurred:

(A) Rule 3-4.2, Rules of Discipline, which provides that an attorney shall not engage in conduct contrary to honesty or justice;

(B) Rule 4-1.15(b), Rules of Professional Conduct, which provides that upon receiving funds in which a client or third person has an interest, a lawyer shall promptly notify the client or third person, shall promptly deliver to the client or third person any funds or property that the client or third person is entitled to receive and, upon request by the client or third person, shall promptly tender a full accounting regarding such property.

(C) Rule 4-8.4(a), Rules of Professional Conduct, which provides that an attorney shall not violate a disciplinary rule.

(D) Rule 4-8.4 (c), Rules of Professional Conduct, which provides that an attorney shall not engage in conduct involving dishonesty, fraud, deceit or misrepresentation.

(E) Rule 5-1.1, Rules Regulating Trust Accounts, which provides that funds entrusted to an attorney for a specific purpose must be held in trust for the purpose of the entrustment.

(F) Rules 5-1.1(d) and 5-1.2, Rules Regulating Trust Accounts, which provide the standards for maintaining an interest bearing trust account and for maintaining the minimum trust accounting records.

(G) Respondent also failed to maintain the minimum trust account proceedings as set forth in Rules Regulating Trust Accounts.

Having approved the parties' stipulation regarding the above recited facts and violations, the referee proceeded to conduct a hearing directed to mitigation and sanctions (14). Respondent attempted to present evidence to establish, in the words of his counsel, "the length and the depth and breadth of (respondent's) substance abuse problem involving cocaine and polydrug addiction, what he did to combat it, where he is today, not only personally and chemically, but in the practice of law" (20).

The evidence adduced by respondent established that at the time of his misconduct he was a drug addict. Testimony from the physician/director of Anon-Anew, where respondent voluntarily admitted himself after the bar instituted its investigation, portrayed respondent as addicted to a myriad of illegal substances. The director testified:

Q. Tell the Court what kind of shape he was in.

A. Ben's urine tested positive for very high levels of cannabinoids, which is marijuana, levels so high that the machine used to test it, the gas chromatograph, could only say greater than a certain number. So it was really an indefinable number.

The same urine specimen tested positive for benzodiazepines, which are sedative, hypnotic type of pills; again at high levels.

The urine also tested positive for not only cocaine metabolytes, which are breakdown products of cocaine, but it also tested positive for what we call a cocaine parent compound.

That is important, inasmuch as it suggests that the individual has recently been ingesting so much cocaine that the amount of cocaine ingested has overwhelmed the body's ability to metabolize it.

Therefore, the individual is spilling, so to speak, free cocaine or pure cocaine into the urinary tract.

So there were a mixture of drugs in the urine, all in high levels (27, 28).

Fran treating respondent and fran monitoring respondent's post discharge aftercare, the director opined:

Q. What is the prognosis, Doctor?

A. I think if Ben continues to do what he is doing now -- here we are a little over a year into his sobriety -- if Ben continues to do what he is doing now and achieves another year or two of sobriety, I think his long term prognosis will be excellent.

Q. Do you see anything at all -- and you have dealt with several lawyers, I take it, at Anon-Anew -- is there anything at all that would indicate to you today or after he left, for instance, the in-patient program at Anon-Anew, that would indicate to you that he is a danger to himself, that he is a danger to other individuals or that he is a severe relapse candidate -- anything of that nature that may affect his ability to practice law?

A. No (36, 37).

Upon further examination the director stated that although respondent's prognosis for continuing sobriety is excellent, there is no certainty in such prognosis (37, 42, 44). In the following colloquy the director appeared to qualify his opinion regarding the potential for harm to the public in the event of respondent's relapse:

Q. Attorneys, of course, are entrusted by members of the public with money and property to be dealt with in trust.

You understand that?

A. Yes.

Q. With a cannabinoid user who has been under medical treatment for a year and a couple of months, as you previously stated, it's just too early to be able to state with any medical certainty that tomorrow won't bring with it some type of relapse?

A. I think I recall saying that I am unable to say with absolute certainty. I can say that if we have a group of individuals who have achieved over one year of sobriety, their chances of ongoing sobriety are much greater than individuals who, say, have just finished treatment.

Q. If there were to be a relapse on the part of Mr. Farbstein, would it be reasonable to expect that all of the consequences that were suffered by him and others through him could recur?

A. I think it would be reasonable to expect the return of some of the behavior that the individual had while using drugs (41, 42).

Although attributing his embarkation upon a path of substance abuse to a hand disfigurement suffered as a 12 year old youth (181), respondent conceded that he was not forced into substance abuse (184). While respondent attempted to establish that his addiction was not voluntary, by his own admission he explained that the addiction did not occur until he "got to a certain point from some recreational use" (184) at which point "I was like sucked in" (184). The director of Anon-Anew testified:

Q. Is there anything that you know of that would indicate to you that Mr. Farbstein's introduction to and continuance as an addict was anything but a voluntary act on his part?

A. Well, all people, initially when they elect to use a drug or alcohol, initiate and do so voluntarily (38).

Respondent presented numerous other witnesses who testified that respondent appeared sober and rehabilitated. One of the witnesses, an attorney, Mark London, was a past vice-chairman of a grievance committee (59). Another attorney-witness, Roger Stanway, is currently serving as chairman of a grievance committee (69). Both witnesses opined upon direct examination that respondent posed no danger to clients, to the bar or to the community (65, 78). Upon cross examination, however, *Mr.* London agreed that his opinion would be different if the assumption upon which it was predicated were invalid.

Q. So, of course, if the assumption is wrong that the addiction created the dishonest propensity, and if it were the other way around, I would assume your opinion regarding *Mr.* Farbstein's relationship with the public would be different?

A. If that were the case, yes (87).

Mr. Stanway likewise agreed that his opinion was predicated upon the assumption that the addiction created the dishonest propensity rather than the dishonest propensity existing independent of the addiction. *Mr.* Stanway went on to explain, however, that so long as an individual adhered to the tenets of Alcoholics Anonymous there could be no dishonesty as a fundamental AA standard mandated honesty (80, 81). *Mr.* Stanway agreed that, applying his view in a bar disciplinary milieu, the rehabilitated substance abuser-thief stood in a favored position vis a vis sanction.

Q. As you know, in your capacity working with a Grievance Committee, the non-addict or the non-alcoholic who steals from clients is frequently disbarred, is that correct?

A. Well, I understand that.

Q. If I understand you correctly, it might be possible to take a dishonest person who commits himself or herself to the steps -- if a person who is dishonest but not an addict of any sort, committed himself or herself to the steps, then it would be unusual for that person to become dishonest.

A. The steps in Alcoholics Anonymous are a format for living, so I have to agree with you.

Q. So it would be inconsistent then for that thief who has committed himself to the steps to then turn around and become a thief again?

A. Right. But where you have a benefit in the situation that you are dealing with now -- you don't have that benefit with just a thief.

You have the barometer, if you would like to call it that, of Alcoholics Anonymous to provide that barometer to you with a person that is going to act dishonest, because if a person in Alcoholics Anonymous is acting dishonest, more than likely, he will be drunk. There is your barometer. Whereas you may not have that barometer normally with a person who is just a thief. You have to catch him.

Q. But the steps, this commitment by the member to abide by the steps and to live his life by, through and under the steps would render it inconsistent to be dishonest or engage in anything other than the straight and narrow life?

A. That's correct. It's a basic tenet of Alcoholics Anonymous that you be honest. You basically try to be an honest person.

Q. So, Roger, it's almost a situation where if you are a lawyer and you steal from your clients, you are better off being an addict than a non-addict when it comes time to deal with the Bar?

A. Well, I think the Bar has, being on —

Q. Do you see where I'm coming from?

A. Well, being on a Grievance Committee and seeing what h a p s and also being in Alcoholics Anonymous -- that's why I said -- frm what your statement said, that may be true, but the Bar also has more built-in benefits or a built-in barometer as to whether a person who is in Alcoholics Anonymous is going to do anything like that.

Really, the first instinct for a person who is doing that is to go out and get drunk, because they can't live honestly in the program.

Q. I think we are just saying the same thing over again, Roger (81, 83).

While restitution was made to the various victims of respondent's misappropriation, such restitution was made through funds borrowed by respondent frm his father (178). Although conceding the accuracy of the bar auditor's report establishing the various misappropriations and stipulating to the violations flowing therefran, respondent, upon testifying in an attempt to establish mitigation, steadfastly refused to admit that the misappropriation constituted a theft of funds (171, 178).

Having stipulated to a violation regarding his representation of one Susanna Lallouz (see page 3 of this statement) respondent nonetheless felt compelled to defame Ms. Lallouz in his testimony. He revealed that he had intimate relations with Ms. Lallouz in high school and charged her with substance abuse (147). When cross examined as to what possible relevance the disclosure of intimacies and drug abuse had to his conceded lack of communications with Ms. Lallouz respondent merely continued to heap abuse upon his client characterizing her as "a lady with no scruples" (176).

The referee, acknowledging that respondent's violations "encompassed extremely serious trust fund misappropriation which ... ordinarily warrants disbarment" (report of referee, page 9) recommended a 90 day suspension plus a period of probation finding it mitigating that respondent attained a recovery from his many addictions, provided complete restitution to victims of his thefts, implemented procedures to insure future compliance with trust account regulations and extended a helping hand to others suffering addiction problems (report of referee, page 10).

Upon review of the referee's report at its March, 1990 meeting, *the* Board of Governors of The Florida Bar directed bar counsel to petition for review and seek the sanction of disbarment.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

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