IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

THE FLORIDA BAR,

Complainant/Appellant,

The Florida Bar File No.

88-50,720 (17E)

vs.

*****#

Supreme Court Case NO.

74,290

BEN IRA FARBSTEIN,

Respondent/Appellee.

1 1990

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

KAY and BOGEN CHUTZ, P.A. Suite 4F, Trial Lawyers Building 633 Southeast Third Avenue Fort Lauderdale, Florida 33301 Telephone: (305) 764-0033

Counsel for Appellee FARBSTEIN

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

? -

It is well settled that a Referee's findings should be upheld unless clearly erroneous, or completely lacking in evidentiary support. The Florida Bar v. Aaron, 529 So.2d 685 (Fla. 1988). There is substantial competent evidence to support the Referee's well reasoned recommendation of suspension, followed by a period of probation.

Additionally, the Supreme Court has consistently recognized that disbarment is an extreme sanction, and should only be imposed where rehabilitation is highly improbable. The Florida Bar V. Hartman, 519 So.2d 606 (Fla. 1988). This Court has also taken into consideration that loss of control due to substance abuse, remorse, cooperation, and prompt restitution are all mitigating circumstances to offset any sanction to be imposed.

ARGUMENT

ž a

POINT I

RESPONDENT/APPELLEE PRESENTED SUBSTANTIAL COMPETENT EVIDENCE TO MITIGATE AGAINST DISBARMENT AND TO SUPPORT THE REFEREE'S REPORT AND RECOMMENDATION

It is well-settled that a Referee's findings should not be overturned unless clearly erroneous, or <u>lacking in evidentiary</u> The Florida Bar v. Aaron, 529 So.2d 685, 686 (Fla. support. 1988); The Florida Bar v. Neely, 502 So.2d 1237, 1238 (Fla. 1987). Rule 3-7.5(k)(7) of the Rules Regulating The Florida Bar provides that the Referee's findings of fact as to items of misconduct charged, "shall enjoy the same presumption of correctness as the judgement of the trier of fact in a civil proceeding." The presumption of correctness of the judgment of a trier of fact in a civil proceeding prohibits the appellate court from reweighing the evidence and substituting its judgment for that of the trier of The Florida Bar v. Hooper, 509 So.2d 289, 291 (Fla. 1987). Therefore, while the Referee must be presented with clear and convincing evidence in order to make findings of misconduct, on review such findings and resulting recommendations must be sustained if they are supported by competent and substantial evidence. Id

It is evident that after reviewing <u>both</u> the Referee's Report and the record, that substantial competent evidence supports the Referee's findings of fact and the corresponding recommendations. These findings were not reached erroneously, and

should be upheld. The Referee explicitly stated that <u>although</u> the instant case involved extremely serious trust fund misappropriations, there <u>were special circumstances</u> to mitigate the sanction to be imposed. After an extensive evidentiary hearing, the Referee also made it clear that the "defalcations" which the Appellee admitted were a <u>direct</u> and <u>proximate result</u> of severe polysubstance abuse. The Referee specifically recommended:

Although the findings I have recommended in this report encompass extremely serious trust fund misappropriation which I regard as among the most serious offenses that can be committed by an attorney and which ordinarily warrants disbarment, I find special circumstances which, in my opinion, should temper the sanction to be imposed. After evidentiary <u>hearing</u> in this matter, the Referee finds that the defalcations herein admitted, and found, were the direct and proximate result of severe, polysubstance abuse for which respondent has voluntarily, and prior to these Bar proceedings, successfully sought psychological and medical assistance at ANON-ANEW and Alcoholics and Narcotics He has demonstrated his <u>Anonymous</u>. exemplary adherence to the principles thereof and the Referee has heard and accepted the several testimonies of Dr. Fred Frick of ANON-ANEW, William Kilby, Esq., counsel for F.L.A. and various other witnesses in testament thereof, including uncontroverted testimony that counsel's ability to practice law is not affected or dismissed currently. I find that respondent, from a very early age (13 years) as a result of an accident in which one of his hands was mangled and almost blown away, developed a severe lack of self esteem which led him on a road to alcohol and drug addiction. Respondent has made remarkable strides in attaining a recovery from his many addictions, has provided complete restitution to all victims of his trust account misappropriations and has retained the services of a certified public accountant who has implemented procedures to insure respondent's strict adherence to and compliance with sound trust accounting procedures in accordance with the Rules Regulating Trust Accounts.

Not only has respondent attained a recovered status, but he has demonstrated his rehabilitation by extending a helping hand to attorneys and other parties who suffered similar addiction problems. (emphasis added)

(Exhibit I)

This Court has recognized loss of control due to drug or alcohol addiction as a mitigating circumstance in various situations involving trust fund violations and addiction problems. These cases appear to support a more lenient sanction than disbarment. In The Florida Bar v. Hartman, 519 So.2d 606 (Fla. 1988), the Referee recommended that the respondent be found guilty of various trust fund violations. These violations included: commingling, failure to preserve the identity of funds of a client, failure to promptly pay client funds, failure to comply with trust fund requirements, and lack of required trust account balance reconciliations.

The Bar argued that the respondent be disbarred. The Referee in <u>Hartman</u> recommended suspension and a concurrent period of supervised probation. The Referee noted that the respondent's violations were extensive. However, the Referee also noted that the violations were primarily attributable to emotional instability resulting from marital difficulties, and the concomitant use of drugs and alcohol. This Court in <u>Hartman</u> was in agreement with the Referee's findings, and stated:

In the instant case, the Referee found the violations were without intent, occurred during a one and half year period of

emotional instability, and were due in part to drug and alcohol addiction. This Court has in the past recognized loss of control due to drug or alcohol addiction as a mitigating circumstance. The Florida Bar v. Rosen, 495 So. 2d 180 (Fla. 1986); The Florida Bar v. Larkin, 420 So.2d 1080 (Fla. The Referee also found respondent 1982). "has made steady progress" toward rehabilitation and has maintained his law practice without complaint since the last violation almost three years ago. The "extreme sanction of disbarment is to be imposed only 'in those rare cases where rehabilitation is highly improbable ". Rosen. 495 So.2d at 181-82 (quoting The Florida-Bar v. Davis, 361 So.2d 159, 162 (Fla. 1978)). We therefore conclude that disbarment would not serve the purposes of discipline in this case. (emphasis added)

Hartman at 608.

Similarly, in <u>The Florida Bar v. Tunsil</u>, 503 So.2d 1230 (Fla. 1986), the respondent was found guilty of numerous trust violations, which included misappropriation of funds, and failure to promptly deliver property to a client. This Court found that disbarment was not an appropriate sanction. The Supreme Court also noted that the respondent's <u>cooperation</u> with the Bar, his <u>remorse</u>, <u>restitution</u> to clients, and the <u>effect</u> of his <u>alcoholism</u>, all constituted mitigating factors to offset the sanction to be imposed. <u>See also The Florida Bar v. Blalock</u>, 325 So.2d 401 (Fla. 1976).

Additionally, in the <u>The Florida Bar v. Rosen</u>, 495 So.2d 180 (Fla. 1986), the respondent was adjudicated guilty of federal felony charges and intentionally possessing cocaine with intent to distribute. The Referee recommended suspension, and the Bar argued that due to the serious nature of the felony

conviction, disbarment was required. This Court agreed with the conclusion of the Referee, and stated:

[T]he Referee found that "it affirmatively appears that since the time of his arrest and conviction in early 1983, Mr. Rosen has overcome his addiction, and no longer engages in illegal drug use." Because the extreme sanction of disbarment is to be imposed only "in those rare cases where rehabilitation ins highly improbable," The Florida Bar v. Davis, 361 So.2d 159, 162 (Fla. 1978), and the finding has been made that *(Rosen) has an excellent chance of being a great asset to the bar of this state," we, with the Referee, "must reject the recommendation of The Florida Bar that he be disbarred, since such a punishment appears not only too harsh in the circumstances, but may well deprive the legal community of the benefit of Mr. Rosen's participation as an attorney in the future, should he be found rehabilitated and reinstated after the suspension period.

Rosen at 181.

In a recent opinion by this court, the respondent in The Florida Bar v. Fertiq, 551 So.2d 1213 (Fla. 1989) plead no contest to a serious felony, Racketeering. The Bar did not seek disbarment despite the fact that the RICO plea had directly affected his practice. The Supreme Court placed the respondent on a ninety (90) day suspension, and cited his cooperation with authorities, his youth in the practice, and the length of time which had elapsed since the criminal acts as mitigating factors.

It is apparent that this Court recognizes that disbarment is an extreme sanction, and should <u>only</u> be imposed where rehabilitation is <u>not</u> a realistic likelihood. There **are** striking similarities between the mitigating factors discussed in the aforementioned authority, and those present **in the** instant

case. First, as in <u>Hartman</u>, there was substantial competent evidence to support the Referee's findings that the respondent has made remarkable strides towards attaining a recovery from his severe drug and alcohol addictions. Numerous professionals testified as to the severity of the Appellant's addictions, and how this abuse played an active role in severely impairing his judgment, and daily functioning as an attorney. Additionally, as in <u>Hartman</u>, there was testimony from fellow attorneys regarding the Appellee's self-awareness of facing up to his illness, the resulting consequences and the aggressive strides he has taken in pursuing rehabilitation.

Dr. Fred Frick is a physician who specializes in the treatment of addictive illnesses (R. 23). He is currently the medical director of ANON-ANEW, an in-patient and out-patient treatment facility in Boca Raton, Florida (R. 23). Frick testified that the Appellee's chemical dependency had been chronic and severe, but that he had completed the in-patient program successfully (R. 32, 33). Frick also stated that the Appellee continued to attend the after-care program at ANON-ANEW, and was an active regular participant in the Alcoholics Anonymous meetings and/or Narcotics Anonymous meetings (R. 35).

In testifying as to the severity and effect of the Appellee's addictions and the role these addictions played in clouding his judgment, Frick testified:

BY MR. BOGENSCHUTZ: Q: Doctor, cocaine and these levels of cannabinoids, they just kind of gobble you up inside, don't they?

- A: Yes. They profoundly alter the chemical balance of the brain.
- Q: And they make you do things that but for that kind of a level, a lot of people never would have thought of doing? Is that fair?
- A: Yes.
- Q: Mr. Barnovitz asked you about one day at a time.

Have you ever heard the statement, "You do the drugs and then the drugs do you"? Have you ever heard that?

- A: Yes, I have.
- Q: Is that what happened to Ben Farbstein?
- A: <u>In my opinion, it must have happened</u> because of the severity and the chronicity of his drug use.

We see in the paper, for example, a woman selling her baby. That should give you an idea how profoundly a person's thought pattern is altered with this drug.

- Q: One last question. What you have seen him do and the method that you have seen him take, the industriousness with which he has attacked this program and done what he has to do afterward —— do you see any indication that if he continues on that path, that he will not have any type of relapse that would cause the specter that Mr. Barnovitz suggested?
- A: Again, I can't say anything with absolute certainty. But I can say that if Ben continues to do what he has done in the past year, his chances for experiencing ongoing sobriety are excellent.

 (emphasis added)

(R. 42-44)

Howard Finkelstein, a fellow attorney and former

 substance abuser testified that he was instrumental in initially encouraging the Appellee to seek treatment (R. 111). Finkelstein testified to the marked personality change in the Appellee since treatment, and the steady progress he has shown in his recovery (R. 112). Finkelstein testified to his regular attendance at ANON-ANEW , lawyer support meetings, Alcoholics Anonymous, and Narcotics Anonymous meetings (R. 112-114).

Finkelstein also testified that the Appellee has demonstrated his rehabilitation by extending a helping hand to other parties who have suffered similar addiction problems:

- Q: Do you know anything that he has been doing in the community with respect to AA, NA, Anon-Anew or any of the other programs?
- A: He has donated his care and concern to helping other lawyers. I know that.

I know that when I am unable to attend the after-care meeting that I run, I ask Ben to run it. And understand that I take that role and responsibility very, very seriously. I wouldn't ask that of him unless I believed that he was capable of handling and functioning in that role.

I know that there is a gentleman here in this courtroom today that he helped get into treatment Because he recognized the substance abuse problem on his part. I have seen him do it with other people.

What he is doing is passing on what he has learned.

A lot of times, we can't necessary (sic) change the consequences of our own addiction and the people that suffered as a result of it. All we can do is try to remedy the situation by giving unto others and trying to improve the quality of their life, and hopefully, through the passing on of that, there is kind of a repayment, a making of amends for all of the ills that we did. (emphasis added)

(R. 113-114).

The Appellee also testified in length as to his remorse and attempts to regain his physical, mental, and emotional health. The Appellee emphasized that his continuing recovery was "the most important thing in his life", and that it was an ongoing daily process (R. 161, 165). The Appellee also made it quite clear that he understood the critical importance of consistently attending various meetings for his continued recovery (R. 160-165). As to his specific misconduct and the realization of how his substance abuse affected his judgment, the Appellee testified:

Q: How much recollection do you have of how the trust accounting problem began and where it went?

A: Honestly, very little.

Q: As a result of that, have you taken any action to make sure that if there is any other difficulty with things that either you don't know about or that have not come to light -- and I don't mean since the time you are out of treatment. I mean prior to treatment.

Have you done anything to insure that that is being taken care of?

A: Yes.

Q: Explain to the Court what that is. What did you do?

A: I reviewed almost every single file in my office for quite some time back. I still have an ongoing practice and it continues to grow.

So to make sure that if somebody was going to say there was a problem with a dollar, ten dollars, a hundred dollars or a

thousand dollars -- I borrowed \$20,000 and I put it into a special account to cover anything.

O: Where is that account now?

A: It's still existing at Sun Bank. I call it a special trust account. It's not a trust account like a lawyer's trust account. It's my personal special trust account for the office.

It hasn't been used. No funds have been taken out of it. It's just to make sure. It's non-interest bearing. I just put the \$20,000 there. I just want to make sure.

Q: <u>Was it ever your intent to steal anything from a client?</u>

A: No.

Q: Why do you think these trust account problems happened?

A: Because I was messed up on drugs. I learned that I was a drug addict. (emphasis added)

(R. 170-171)

On cross examination, the Appellee also emphasized that the trust violations were without intent, and were not "calculated shortages", but were unequivocally due to his addiction:

- Q: Insofar as the intent aspect is concerned, that, you lay solely and exclusively at the feet of addiction?
- A: I am not a dishonest person. Yes, it is unequivocally, without question, due to my druq addiction, my use of cocaine.

 (emphasis added)

(R. 179)

As to this issue, the Appellee also stated:

Q: My question to you is -- and I think you answered it, but I want to make sure that we are addressing the same issue -- it is your testimony today that in no instance of diverting trust funds did you then have any appreciation that you were using something that didn't belong to you?

A: No, sir.

Q: No, you didn't have any appreciation?

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